
           

 

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

City Council Meeting
Regular Session

July 14, 2025
6:00 P.M.

City Hall - Council Chambers - 6131 Taylorsville Road - Huber Heights, Ohio

 

           
1. Call The Meeting To Order - Mayor Jeff Gore   
 

2. Invocation - Pastor Dean Garret Of Emmanuel Church At 5657 Rosebury Drive,
Huber Heights, Ohio

  

 

3. Pledge Of Allegiance   
 

4. Roll Call   
 

5. Approval Of Minutes   
 

A. City Council Meeting Minutes - June 23, 2025
 
6. Special Presentations/Announcements   
 

A. 2024 Community Survey Results Presentation - Mr. Robert Heacock, ETC Institute
 
7. Citizens Comments - Agenda Items   
 

8. City Manager Report
 
9. Pending Business   



 

A. An Ordinance To Approve An Economic Development Plan For The Creekside Woods
Development Project And To State That The City May Hereafter Proceed With The
Creation Of Tax Increment Financing Incentive Districts.
(second reading)

 
B. An Ordinance Amending Section 934.09 Of The Huber Heights Code Of Ordinances

Pertaining To Sanitary Sewer Fees And Regulations.
(second reading)

 
10. New Business   
 

CITY COUNCIL
Anthony C. Rodgers, Clerk Of Council

  

 

A. A Public Hearing Scheduled For July 14, 2025 By The Huber Heights City Council For
Discussion Of The 2026 Tax Budget.

 
ADMINISTRATION
John Russell, City Manager

  

 

B. A Resolution Adopting A Preliminary Tax Budget For Revenues Of The City Of Huber
Heights, Ohio For The Period Beginning January 1, 2026 And Ending December 31,
2026.
(first reading)

 
C. An Ordinance Authorizing Transfers Between Various Funds Of The City Of Huber

Heights, Ohio And Amending Ordinance No. 2024-O-2676 By Making Supplemental
Appropriations For Expenses Of The City Of Huber Heights, Ohio For The Period
Beginning January 1, 2025 And Ending December 31, 2025.
(first reading)

 
D. A Resolution To Determine That The Petition To Establish The Huber Heights New

Community Authority (NCA) Is Sufficient And Complies With The Requirements Of The
Ohio Revised Code; To Set The Time And Place For A Public Hearing On The Petition;
And To Authorize The Notice Of Such Public Hearing By Publication.
(first reading)

 
E. A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into A Fifth Amendment To The

Operations And Maintenance Agreement With Veolia Water Contract Operations USA,
Inc.
(first reading)

 
F. An Ordinance To Amend All Of Part Nine, Title Three, Chapter 924 Of The Codified



F. An Ordinance To Amend All Of Part Nine, Title Three, Chapter 924 Of The Codified
Ordinances Of Huber Heights, Regarding The City’s Industrial Pretreatment Program For
The Sanitary Sewer System.
(first reading)

 
G. A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Solicit, Advertise, And Receive Bids From

Qualified Firms For The Walmac Street/Betal Court Water Main Improvements Project.
(first reading)

 
11. Citizens Comments - General   
 

12. City Official Reports And Comments   
 

13. Executive Session   
 

14. Adjournment   
 



   
AI-10970     Minutes      A.        
City Council Meeting
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Approval Of Minutes - 06/23/2025
Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council
Council Committee Review?: None  
Date(s) of Committee Review: N/A  
Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

N/A

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
City Council Meeting Minutes - June 23, 2025

Purpose and Background
Approval of the minutes from the June 23, 2025 City Council Meeting.

Fiscal Impact
Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:
There are no financial implications to this agenda item.

Attachments
Minutes 



 

               
1.      Call The Meeting To Order - Mayor Jeff Gore

 
  The Huber Heights City Council met in a Regular Session on June 23, 2025.   

Mayor Jeff Gore called the meeting to order at  6:04 p.m.

 
2.      Invocation - Pastor Randy Griffith Of The Free Methodist Church At 6875 Old

Troy Pike, Huber Heights, Ohio

 
3.      Pledge Of Allegiance

 
4.      Roll Call

Present: Kathleen Baker, Mark Campbell, Brian Looney, Anita Kitchen, Don
Webb, Jeff Gore 

Absent: Scott Davidson, Nancy Byrge, Fred Aikens 

Staff
Present:

Clerk Of Council Anthony Rodgers; Law Director Christopher Conard;
City Manager John Russell 

  Mayor Jeff Gore said Mr. Davidson, Mrs. Byrge, and Mr. Aikens sent notice that they
would be unable to attend this City Council Meeting.  He asked for a motion to
excuse the Councilmembers' absences. 

Mr. Campbell moved to excuse the absences of Mr. Davidson, Mrs. Byrge and Mr.
Aikens; Mr. Looney seconded the motion.  On a call of the vote, Ms. Baker, Mr.
Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, and Mr. Webb voted yea; none
voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
5.      Approval Of Minutes

 
  A.   City Council Meeting Minutes - June 9, 2025   

 
  The minutes for the June 9, 2025 City Council Meeting were approved by the Huber

Heights City Council as submitted.

 
6.      Special Presentations/Announcements

 
  There were no special presentations or announcements.

 
7.      Citizens Comments - Agenda Items

 
  There were no comments on agenda items from citizens.

 
8.      City Manager Report   
 
  City Manager John Russell informed Council of Ohio Department Of Transportation

1 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



  City Manager John Russell informed Council of Ohio Department Of Transportation
(ODOT) construction at the I-70 and State Route 235 interchange.  He said one lane
is currently open on both the eastbound and westbound exits from I-70, but following
the July 4, 2025 holiday, those exits will be closed and detours will be posted.  He
said the Huber Heights Senior Center will be open until 6:00 p.m. on June 23, 2025
and June 24, 2025 to better serve residents and act as a cooling center during the
current high temperatures.  He reminded Council of the upcoming Star Spangled
Heights event on June 28, 2025 beginning with the parade at 10:00 a.m. and
concluding with a fireworks display at Thomas Cloud Park at 10:00 p.m.  He said the
annual Huber Heights shredding event will take place on August 2, 2025 from 9:00
a.m. to 11:00 a.m. at Thomas Cloud Park and the Rose Music Center.  He said City
Staff have created a new event texting service using the CodeRed weather warning
system.  He said anyone wishing to subscribe to the service, which will provide
weather and other updates related to City events, can do so by texting HHEvents to
the number 99411.  He reminded Council of the Police Division's upcoming Safety
Town program, which teaches children entering kindergarten about topics including
traffic safety, bicycle safety, fire safety, stranger awareness, 911 usage and much
more.  He said the Safety Town classes would be week-long learning experiences and
would be offered August 4-8, 2025 and August 11-15, 2025, with registration
available on the City's website.   

 
9.      Pending Business

 
  A.   An Ordinance Authorizing The Issuance Of Tax Increment Financing Revenue Bonds

From Time To Time For The Purpose Of Paying The Costs Of Certain Public
Improvements Or Refunding Debt Issued By The City For That Purpose And
Authorizing The Execution And Delivery Of A Master Trust Agreement Providing For
The Rights Of The Holders Of The Bonds And Pledging Certain Revenues And Funds
To Secure Those Bonds, And Declaring An Emergency.
(second reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item relates to the Master Trust Agreement for the Canal Heights

Development to assist with its Tax Increment Financing (TIF).

Mayor Jeff Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mr. Campbell made a motion to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, and Ms.
Baker voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  B.   An Ordinance Providing For The Issuance And Sale Of Tax Increment Financing

Revenue Bonds, Series 2025, In The Maximum Aggregate Principal Amount Of
$4,350,000, For The Purpose Of Paying The Costs Of The Construction Of Certain
Public Improvements, Authorizing Various Related Documents And Instruments,
Including A Bond Placement Agreement, A First Supplemental Trust Agreement And
An Private Placement Memorandum, And Declaring An Emergency.
(second reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item relates to the TIF bonds for the Canal Heights

Development.  He reminded Council that the Canal Heights Development bonds are
secured by the developer through Minimum Service Payments (MSPs) and not by the
City itself.  

Mayor Jeff Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mr. Webb made a motion to adopt; Mrs. Kitchen seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, and Mr.
Campbell voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
10.      New Business

2 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



10.      New Business

 
     CITY COUNCIL

Anthony C. Rodgers, Clerk Of Council

 
  A.   A Motion To Appoint Kevin White To The Military And Veterans Commission To A

Term Ending On December 31, 2027.
  

 
  Mr. Rodgers said this item relates to the appointment of Mr. Kevin White to the

Military and Veterans Commission for a term ending December 31, 2027.  He said
the necessary background check on Mr. White had been completed by Human
Resources.  

Mayor Jeff Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mayor Gore made a motion to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, and
Mayor Gore voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  B.   A Motion To Appoint Terry Walton To The Fire Appeals Board To A Term Ending

On December 31, 2025.
  

 
  Mr. Rodgers said this item relates to the appointment of Mr. Terry Walton as the

Council's citizen representative to the Fire Appeals Board.  He said the necessary
background check on Mr. Walton had been completed by Human Resources. 

Mr. Campbell made a motion to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, and Mr.
Looney voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  C.   A Motion To Direct The Clerk Of Council To Respond To The Ohio Division Of

Liquor Control With No Objections In Reference To Liquor Permit # 8827366
Application To Change The Stock Ownership For Taylor Mart, LLC At 6025
Taylorsville Road, Huber Heights, Ohio, 45424.

  

 
  Mr. Rodgers said this item was not for a new liquor license, but merely a change in

stock ownership for Taylor Mart, LLC.

Mrs. Kitchen made a motion to adopt; Mr. Looney seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr Webb, Ms Baker, Mr. Campbell, and Mayor
Gore voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
     ADMINISTRATION

John Russell, City Manager

 
  D.   A Motion Authorizing The Law Director To Provide The Bethel Township Trustees

With Not Less Than Ten (10) Days Written Notice Of The City’s Council’s Intent To
Adopt A Resolution Petitioning The Board Of County Commissioners Of Miami
County, Ohio To Adjust The Boundary Lines Of Bethel Township So As To Exclude
That Territory That, As A Result Of Annexation, Now Lies Within The Corporate
Boundaries Of The City Of Huber Heights Identified As The Carriage Trails II
Annexation Of Approximately 296.236 ± Acres By Resolution No. 2024-R-7455.

  

 
  Mr. Russell said he had nothing to add to this item. 

3 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



  Mr. Russell said he had nothing to add to this item. 

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Mr. Webb made a motion to adopt; Mayor Gore seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, and Mr.
Webb voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  E.   A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Participate In The Ohio Association

Of Public Treasurers 2026 Workers’ Compensation Group Retrospective Program
Administered By Sedgwick.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said he had nothing further to add to Human Resources Manager Katie

Knisley's presentation at the June 17, 2025 Council Work Session regarding the
City's BWC renewal.  

Mayor Jeff Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mayor Gore made a motion to adopt; Mr. Looney seconded the motion.    On a call
of the vote, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, and
Ms. Baker voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  F.   A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into An Agreement To Provide

Insurance Coverage For General Liability, Property, Boiler And Machinery, Inland
Marine, Automobile, Crime, Law Enforcement Liability, Public Officials’ Liability,
And Other Necessary Insurance Coverage For The City Of Huber Heights, Ohio,
Waiving The Competitive Bidding Requirements, And Covering The Costs Of
Services Ordered By The City.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell reminded Council that City Staff presented this liability insurance

extension proposal at the June 17, 2025 Council Work Session, and that the City is
currently awaiting updated insurance rate quotes from the current provider. 

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Mr. Webb made a motion to adopt; Mrs. Kitchen seconded the motion. 

Mayor Jeff Gore asked about the length of the extension.

Mr. Russell said the extension was for sixty days. 

On a call of the vote, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker,
Mr. Campbell voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  G.   A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into An Agreement To Provide

Insurance Coverage For Crime For The City Of Huber Heights, Ohio, Waiving The
Competitive Bidding Requirements, And  Covering The Costs Of Services Ordered By
The City.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item was brought before Council at the June 17, 2025 City

Work Session and relates to the City's annual renewal of its crime insurance with
Travelers Insurance Company.

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Mr. Looney made a motion to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, and
Mayor Gore voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

4 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



Mayor Gore voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  H.   A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Award A Contract For Furniture,

Fixtures, And Equipment (FF&E) At The Richard F. Shomper City Governance Center.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item relates to the City's purchase of furniture, fixtures, and

equipment for the Richard F. Shomper City Governance Center. 

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Mayor Gore made a motion to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell,  Mayor Gore, and Mr.
Looney voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  I.   A Resolution Authorizing The Transfer Of Certain City-Owned Real Property To The

Transformative Economic Development Fund.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said the City will be moving certain City-owned properties into the

Transformative Economic Development (TED) Fund in the event the City finds it
necessary to sell these properties in the future. 

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Ms. Baker made a motion to adopt; Mr. Campbell seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, and Mrs.
Kitchen voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  J.   An Ordinance Authorizing A One-Time Transfer Of Monies From The General Fund

To Document An Advance Previously Made To The Capital Improvement Fund, And
Declaring An Emergency.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item was presented to Council at the June 17, 2025 Council

Work Session.  He said the City will be moving monies from the General Fund to the
Capital Improvement Fund to pay for the Bellfontaine Road Project which is about to
begin. 

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to waive the second
reading and to adopt this item.

Mr. Webb made a motion to waive the second reading; Ms. Baker seconded the
motion.  On a call of the vote, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney,
Mrs. Kitchen, and Mr. Webb voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

Mr. Campbell made a motion to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, and Ms.
Baker voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  K.   A Resolution Approving The City Of Huber Heights Five-Year Capital Improvement

Plan For 2026-2030.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item was the necessary first step in the process of creating the

5 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



  Mr. Russell said this item was the necessary first step in the process of creating the
2026 City Budget.  

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Mr. Webb made a motion to adopt; Mrs. Kitchen seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, and Mr.
Campbell voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  L.   An Ordinance To Approve An Economic Development Plan For The Creekside Woods

Development Project And To State That The City May Hereafter Proceed With The
Creation Of Tax Increment Financing Incentive Districts.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item was the first step in the Economic Development Plan for the

Creekside Woods Development Project and it will allow the City to create a Tax
Increment Financing (TIF) Incentive District. 

Mayor Gore said this item will be passed to a second reading. 

 
  M.   An Ordinance To Levy Special Assessments For The Repair And Reconstruction Of

Sidewalks, Curbs And Gutters, Driveway Approaches And Appurtenances Thereto On
Parts Or All Of Certain Streets In The City Of Huber Heights Referred To As The 2025
Sidewalk Program, And Declaring An Emergency.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item is the final piece of the City's 2025 Sidewalk Program. 

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to waive the second
reading and to adopt this item.

Mr. Webb made a motion to waive the second reading; Mayor Gore seconded the
motion.   On a call of the vote, Mr. Looney, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr.
Campbell, and Mayor Gore voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

Mr. Campbell made a motion to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, and Mr.
Looney voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
  N.   An Ordinance Amending Section 934.09 Of The Huber Heights Code Of Ordinances

Pertaining To Sanitary Sewer Fees And Regulations.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said that this item was related to the collection of sanitary sewer fees as

presented by Mr. Aaron Sorrell at the June 17, 2025 Council Work Session. 

Mayor Gore said this item will be passed to a second reading.

 
  O.   A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase Business Continuity And

Backup And Disaster Recovery Services From Vendor ThinkGard.
(first reading)

  

 
  Mr. Russell said this item would allow the City to acquire necessary cloud storage,

computer maintenance, and disaster recovery services software for the City's IT
operations.

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this item.

Mr. Looney made a motion to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion.  On a call of
the vote, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mayor Gore, Mr. Looney, and Mrs.

6 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



Kitchen voted yea; none voted nay.  The motion passes 6-0.

 
11.      Citizens Comments - General

 
  Mr. Jeff Morford of Bethel Township said Council ignored its own due diligence

report regarding its acquisition of 300 acres of Bethel Township and only focused on
the money the annexation would generate.  He said the Council is supposed to
represent the residents of Huber Heights, yet he does not believe that the City's
residents share the thirst for money that the members of Council have.  He said the
Council ignored the pleas of many Bethel Township residents, as well as Huber
Heights residents, to not move forward with the annexation of Bethel Township.

Mayor Jeff Gore informed Mr. Morford that his time to speak was up. 

Mr. Morford argued that he had brought new information before Council regarding
the due diligence report.

Mayor Jeff Gore said the bulk Mr. Morford's speech, and it's main topic, was the
Bethel Township annexation, and as such was a repetition of Mr. Morford's previous
comments before Council.  He informed Mr. Morford that future speeches regarding
the Bethel Township annexation would be further curtailed.  

 
12.      City Official Reports And Comments

 
  Mayor Jeff Gore said that he is very pleased with the service this Council has given to

the residents of Huber Heights.

 
13.      Executive Session

 
  Mayor Gore said there is no need for an Executive Session.

 
14.      Adjournment

 
Mayor Gore adjourned the Regular Session City Council Meeting at 6:28 p.m.  

  
____________________________
Clerk of Council

  ____________________________
Date

   
____________________________
Mayor

 ____________________________
Date

7 

  
Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers
6131 Taylorsville Road

June 23, 2025



   
AI-10992     Special Presentations/Announcements      A.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
2024 Community Survey Results Presentation
Submitted By: Aaron Sorrell
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services
Council Committee Review?: None Date(s) of Committee Review: N/A

Audio-Visual Needs: SmartBoard Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

N/A

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
2024 Community Survey Results Presentation - Mr. Robert Heacock, ETC Institute

Purpose and Background
This agenda item is for a presentation of the survey results from the City's 2024 Community Survey by the ETC Institute. 

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Presentation 



July 7th, 2025
Presented by:
Robert Heacock, ETC Institute

Huber Heights, OH
2024 Community Survey Results



For more than 35 years, our mission
has been to help local governments
gather and use survey data to make

better decisions.

ETC Institute is the Leader in Market
Research for State and Local

Governments. Clients include 29 of the
35 largest cities in the United StatesSince 2011, 

ETC Institute
Has Surveyed

More Than
3,600,000

People for More
Than 1,300
government

agencies on 4
continents!

2



Agenda

Purpose and Methodology

Topic #1: Major Findings

Topic #2: Importance-Satisfaction Analysis

Topic #3: Benchmarking: Comparing to National and Regional Averages

Summary/Questions

3



OBJECTIVELY ASSESS USAGE,
AWARENESS, AND PERCEPTIONS OF

DBRL FACILITIES AND PROGRAMS

MEASURE TRENDS OVER TIME
PREVIOUS SURVEYS CONDUCTED IN

2007, 2011, 2014, & 2019

OBJECTIVELY ASSESS
RESIDENT SATISFACTION

WITH DELIVERY OF MAJOR
CITY SERVICES

SET PRIORITIES FOR
THE COMMUNITY

COMPARE HUBER
HEIGHT’S PERFORMANCE

TO NATIONAL AND
REGIONAL AVERAGES

PURPOSE

4



ADMINISTERED BY
MAIL AND ONLINE
DURING THE FALL

OF 2024

GOAL OF 400
COMPLETED

SURVEYS

A TOTAL OF 430
WERE COMPLETED

95% LEVEL OF
CONFIDENCE

WITH A MARGIN OF
ERROR OF  +/- 4.7%

SURVEY RESULTS
SHOW BY

RANDOM SAMPLE

Methodology

5



All Age Groups
Were Well-

Represented

6



Both New and
Long-Term
Residents
Were Well-

Represented

7



All Income
Groups

Were Well-
Represented

8



Male and
female

respondents
were fairly

equally split

9



Topic #1
Major Findings

10



Respondents were
most satisfied

(rating "good" or
"excellent") with

Huber Heights as a
place to live (72%),

as a place to call
home (60%), and as

a place to raise
children (57%).

11

16%

18%

12%

14%

12%

56%

42%

48%

41%

38%

39%

38%

39%

23%

25%

24%

35%

27%

28%

35%

38%

6%

16%

19%

12%

22%

21%

19%

16%

As a place to raise children 9%

As a place to visit 8%

As a place to work 7%

As a place to live

As a place you are proud to
call home

As a place to open a business

As a city moving in the right
direction

As a place to retire

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Excellent (5) Good (4) Average (3) Below Average/Poor (2/1)

Q1. Perception of Huber
Heights

by percentage of respondents (excluding don't knows)



The three major
categories respondents
were most satisfied with
(rating "satisfied" or "very

satisfied") were the
overall maintenance of
City streets, sidewalks,

and utilities (73%),
overall quality of parks

and recreation programs
and facilities (70%), and

overall quality of
customer service you

receive from City
employees (64%).

12

4%

16%

21%

30%

35%

22%

30%

32%

40%

18% 55%

18% 52%

18% 46%

12% 46%

10% 45%

13% 42%

10% 44%

10% 41%

6% 24% 39%

25% 20%

11%

10%

6%

7%

23%

16%

15%

9%

31%

51%

City services meeting your needs

Enforcement of local codes and ordinances

Overall flow of traffic and congestion
management

0% 20% 40%
Very Satisfied (5) Satisfied (4)

60%
Neutral (3)

80% 100%

Dissatisfied (2/1)

Q2. Satisfaction with Major Categories of
Services

by percentage of respondents (excluding don't knows)

Overall maintenance of city streets, sidewalks,
and utilities

Overall quality of parks and recreation
programs and facilities

Overall quality of customer service you
receive from city employees

Overall how well decision-makers listen to
community input

Response time on updates after requesting
a City service

Overall quality of information presented by
the City of Huber Heights

Overall clarity and effectiveness of
communication with the public



The three
perceptions

respondents feel
most satisfied with
were quality of life
in Huber Heights
(61%), quality of

government
services (53%),

and appearance of
the City (52%).

13



Regarding
economic

development,
respondents were
most satisfied with
the City's efforts to

promote and
assist small-

owned businesses
(47%).

14



. Respondents were
most satisfied with
the 9-1-1 services

provided by operators
(81%), how quickly
police respond to

emergencies (77%),
and the overall

quality of City police
protection (76%).

15



How quickly fire
services personnel

respond (92%),
overall quality of fire
services (90%), and

overall quality of
ambulance/EMS

(89%) were the three
fire department

services respondents
felt most satisfied

with.

16



Respondents feel
most safe (rating

"safe" or "very
safe") in their
neighborhood
during the day

(90%), in
commercial/retail

areas (74%), and in
Huber Heights in

general (70%).

17



Most
respondents
(77%) report

visiting a Huber
Heights park or

recreational
facility in the last

year.

18



The three cultural
centers, parks, and
recreation aspects

respondents felt
most satisfied with
(rating "satisfied" or

"very satisfied") were
quality of natural

areas/open
spaces/trails (75%),
maintenance of city

parks (74%), and
quality of recreation

facilities (70%).
19



The three aspects related
to code enforcement

respondents felt most
satisfied with were
cleanliness in your

neighborhood (62%),
enforcing the mowing

and cutting of weeds and
grass on private property
(56%), and enforcing the
exterior maintenance of
commercial/business

property (47%).

20



The water utilities
respondents feel

most satisfied with
were water

treatment services
(69%), utility billing

services (65%),
and quality of
drinking water

(58%).

21



The three public
works services

respondents felt
most satisfied with
were condition of
street signs and

traffic signals (82%),
condition of street

drainage/stormwater
drainage (75%), and

condition of
pavement marking on

streets (69%).
22



Respondents were
most satisfied with
the quality of the
city website (51%),
availability of
information on city
services and
activities (51%),
and quality of
City's social media
(49%).

23



The highest
percentage of

respondents used
the City Facebook

(57%), City
website (47%), or

word of
mouth/friends

(45%) to get
information about
the City of Huber

Heights.
24



The three aspects
respondents thought

were the most
important (rating

"very important" or
"somewhat

important") in their
decision to live in

Huber Heights were
safety and security

(99%), types of
housing (97%), and

affordability of
housing (96%).

25



Topic #2
Importance-Satisfaction

Analysis

26



Importance-Satisfaction Analysis
•To help the City determine investment priorities for the
next two years, ETC Institute conducted an Importance-
Satisfaction (I-S) analysis, which assessed how important
various City services are to residents and how satisfied
they are with them. The analysis recommends prioritizing
services that are highly important but have low
satisfaction, as improvements in these areas will have the
greatest impact on overall satisfaction with City services.



Items that are High Priority and Very High
Priority

28

Major Categories
of City Services

Very High Priority:
• Overall flow of traffic and
congestion management on streets
(IS=0.5445)

• How well decision-makers
listen to community input
(IS=0.2631)

High Priority:
• Enforcement of local codes
and ordinances (IS=0.1798)

• Maintenance of city streets,
sidewalks, and utilities (IS=0.1458)

• Quality and effectiveness of
communication with the public
(IS=0.1406)

• Overall quality of parks and
rec programs and facilities
(IS=0.1065)

Public Safety
Services

High Priority:
• Efforts of city

government to prevent
crime (IS=0.1813)

• Enforcement of City
traffic laws (IS=0.1553)

• Visibility of police in
neighborhoods and
schools (0.1387)

Code
Enforcement

Very High Priority:
• Enforcing the clean-up of
junk and debris on private
property (IS=0.3073)

High Priority:
• Enforcing the exterior
maintenance of residential
property (IS=0.1967)

• City efforts to remove
abandoned or inoperative
vehicles (IS=0.1480)

• Enforcing the mowing
and cutting of weeds and grass
on private property (IS=0.1236)

Public Works
Services

Very High Priority:
• Management of traffic flow

(IS Rating = 0.3421)

High Priority:
• Bicycle infrastructure

(shared use paths, bike
lanes/signs/share lane
markings (IS=0.1131)

• Condition of major
streets/roadways in Huber
Heights (IS=0.1021)



Topic #3
Benchmarking:

Comparing to National
and Regional Averages

29



How Huber Heights Compares to Other
Communities Nationally

30

Satisfaction ratings for the City of Huber Heights rated above the
U.S. average in 40 of the 53 areas that were assessed

The City rated significantly higher than the U.S. average (difference
of 5% or more) in 33 of these areas.

The items with the greatest difference in satisfaction:
• Maintenance of streets, sidewalks, and utilities (+32% difference)
• Stormwater management and flood control (+26% difference)
• Quality of customer service from City employees (+25% difference)
• Fire inspection programs in your community (+24% difference)



How Huber Heights Compares to Other
Communities in the North Central Region

31

Satisfaction ratings for the City of Huber Heights rated above the North
Central (includes Indiana, Michigan, Ohio, and Pennsylvania) average in
36 of the 53 areas that were assessed

The City rated significantly higher than the regional average (difference of
5% or more) in 29 of these areas.

The items with the greatest difference in satisfaction:
• Maintenance of streets, sidewalks, and utilities (+34% difference)
• Stormwater management and flood control (+31% difference)
• As a place to live (+29% difference)
• Fire inspection programs in your community (+29% difference)



Topic #4
Summary

32



Summary

Huber Heights is a great place to live,
call home, and raise a family!

Satisfaction is highest for Huber Heights as
a place to live (72%), as a place to call
home (60%), and as a place to raise
children (57%).

Residents feel safe and secure in
Huber Heights!

90% feel safe in their neighborhood during the
day, 74% in retail areas, and 70% in the
community overall.

33



Summary (continued)

Huber Heights offers well-maintained
streets, parks, and public facilities!
Satisfaction is highest for the condition of street signs
and traffic signals (82%), stormwater drainage (75%),
and maintenance of city parks (74%).

City services and emergency response
in Huber Heights earn high marks!
92% are satisfied with fire response times, 89% with fire
services and EMS, and 76% with overall police
protection.

34



Summary (continued)

Huber Heights supports a strong
sense of community through
accessible parks and recreation!
77% of residents visited a park in the last year,
and satisfaction is highest for natural areas
and trails (75%), park maintenance (74%), and
recreation facilities (70%).

Huber Heights is committed to
excellent customer service and
communication!
Satisfaction is highest for customer service
from City employees (64%), utility billing
services (65%), and the usefulness of the City
website (51%).

35



Questions?
THANK YOU

36



   
AI-10977     City Manager Report    8.        
City Council Meeting
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
City Manager Report
Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council
Council Committee Review?: None Date(s) of Committee Review: N/A

Audio-Visual Needs: SmartBoard Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

N/A

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
City Manager Report

Purpose and Background
A copy of the presentation given with the City Manager Report has been attached (see attached).

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
AI-10971     Pending Business      A.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Creekside Townhomes - Economic Development Plan
Submitted By: Aaron Sorrell
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 06/17/2025

Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
An Ordinance To Approve An Economic Development Plan For The Creekside Woods Development Project And
To State That The City May Hereafter Proceed With The Creation Of Tax Increment Financing Incentive Districts.
(second reading)

Purpose and Background
The purpose of this Economic Development Plan is to satisfy the requirements of Section 5709.40(A)(5)(f) of the
Ohio Revised Code, which requires that an Economic Development Plan evidence that the public infrastructure
serving the proposed residential tax increment financing incentive districts is inadequate to meet the development
needs of the district.  This Economic Development Plan has been developed to continue the efficient and effective
development of the City of Huber Heights, Ohio. 

This Economic Development Plan relates to the proposed development of a 159 townhome-style residential
development within the City on approximately 26 acres, known as Creekside Woods.  The proposed development
is located west of Charlesgate Road and east of Wildcat Road.  The City has determined that the construction of
this project would be beneficial to the City by increasing housing opportunities for current and future residents
while enhancing the quality of life for the general public.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
City Engineer's Certification 
Ordinance 
Exhibit A/Exhibit B 





W
il
d
c
a
t
R
d

70

W
il
d
c
a
t
R
d

Camping World

T
ro
y
P
ik
e

Shull Rd

Ch
arl

esga
te Rd

Waynega
te

R
d

Kellenburger Rd

B
el
le

C
h
a
s
e
D
r

Cabaret Ct

T
ro
y
P
ik
e

Lowe's

Jiffy Lube

Digestive
Specialists,
Inc., and
Digestive
Endoscopy
Center, LLC

Trimble Inc.

70

70

Northpark
Center

36

Staples

Steak 'n Shake

Applebee's

Waffle House

El Toro

Creekside Woods Incentive District and Overlay



1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-O-

TO APPROVE AN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE CREEKSIDE
WOODS DEVELOPMENT PROJECT AND TO STATE THAT THE CITY MAY
HEREAFTER PROCEED WITH THE CREATION OF TAX INCREMENT
FINANCING INCENTIVE DISTRICTS.

WHEREAS, this Council has determined to facilitate the development of a residential
development consisting of approximately 159 townhome-style homes within the City of
Huber Heights (the “City”) in order to increase the available housing options within the
City (the “Project”), and in order to develop the Project, it is necessary to construct certain
public infrastructure improvements; and

WHEREAS, Sections 5709.40, 5709.42, and 5709.43 of the Ohio Revised Code (the “TIF
Act”) authorizes this Council to create, by ordinance, one or more incentive districts and
declare the improvement to each parcel of real property within those districts to be a public
purpose; and

WHEREAS, Section 5709.40(A)(5) of the Ohio Revised Code requires incentive districts
to have one or more distress characteristics, which includes, as certified by the City
Engineer, that the public infrastructure serving the districts is inadequate to meet the
development needs of the districts as evidenced by a written economic development plan
for the districts adopted by the legislative authority; and

WHEREAS, to facilitate the development of the Project and pay the associated costs of the
necessary public infrastructure improvements from service payments in lieu of taxes, this
Council has determined to create the Creekside Woods Incentive District pursuant to the
TIF Act, the boundaries of which shall be coextensive with the boundaries of, and will
include, the parcels of real property within each Incentive District specifically identified
and depicted in Exhibit A attached hereto; and

WHEREAS, the area within the Incentive Districts has been studied and an economic
development plan has been prepared for that area (the “Economic Development Plan”) and
is attached hereto as Exhibit B, and which Economic Development Plan has been
submitted to this Council and contains information regarding the inadequacy of the public
infrastructure in the Incentive Districts, recommendations addressing land use, housing and
public infrastructure, and related issues; and

WHEREAS, the City Engineer has certified that (i) the overlays, as defined in Section
5709.40(A)(6) of the Ohio Revised Code and shown on the maps attached hereto in
Exhibit A, are less than 300 acres in size and are each a square or a rectangle having two
sides that are not more than twice the length of the smaller sides, and (ii) the public
infrastructure serving the Incentive Districts is inadequate to meet the development needs
of the Incentive Districts as evidenced by the Economic Development Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio,
that:

Section 1. This Council hereby: (i) accepts and adopts the City Engineer’s certification
to this Council and the City Engineer’s findings set forth therein (a) that the public
infrastructure serving the Incentive Districts is inadequate to meet the development needs
of the Incentive Districts as evidenced by the Economic Development Plan, and (b) that the
Incentive Districts and the related overlay areas are less than 300 acres in size and enclosed
by a contiguous boundary, (ii) finds and determines that the construction of the planned
159 townhome-style homes will place additional demand on the public infrastructure, and
(iii) approves and adopts the Economic Development Plan.  The City Division of
Engineering and all departments and divisions of the City administration are authorized
and directed to consult and use the Economic Development Plan as guidance in
establishing the Incentive Districts and providing financing for the public infrastructure



2

improvements. Copies of the Economic Development Plan will be kept on file in the City
Division of Engineering.

Section 2.  This Council, the City, and its officials may hereafter proceed to establish
the Incentive Districts under Section 5709.40(c) of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning
and relating to the passage of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council
and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such
formal actions were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal
requirements, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 4. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and
the Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______  Yeas; ______  Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



Creekside Woods Economic Development Plan- 2025 
  

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

 
 

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, OHIO 
CREEKSIDE WOODS 

RESIDENTIAL INCENTIVE DISTRICTS 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

 
 

June 9, 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



P a g e  | 2 
 

Creekside Woods Economic Development Plan- 2025 
  

 
The Plan 
 
The purpose of this Economic Development Plan (the “Plan”) is to satisfy the requirement of 
Section 5709.40(A)(5)(f) of the Ohio Revised Code, which requires that economic development 
plan evidence that the public infrastructure serving the proposed residential tax increment 
financing incentive districts is inadequate to meet the development needs of the district.  This 
Plan has been developed to continue the efficient and effective development of the City of Huber 
Heights, Ohio (the “City”). 
 
Proposed Development 
 
This Plan relates to the proposed development of a 159-townhome style residential development 
within the City on approximately 25.6 acres, known as Creekside Woods Development (the 
“Project”). The proposed development is located on Charlesgate Road, approximately within the 
City’s Northwestern corridor. The City has determined that the construction of the Project would 
be beneficial to the City by increasing housing opportunities for current and future residents 
while enhancing the quality of life for the general public. The current development plans for the 
Project are contained in Attachment A.   
 
The Project is expected to be completed in two (2) separate phases. Each phase will consist of 
approximately the following number of homes: Phase 1, 78 lots (1,440 square ft: Per lot), Phase 
2, 81 lots with an anticipated average sales price of $305,000 per residence. In connection with 
each phase of the Project, the Developer shall prepare and submit a site plan, architectural 
renderings and related development plan(s) to the City, in such detail as is reasonably necessary 
for review and approval by appropriate City Boards or Commissions in accordance with the 
ordinary exercise of their respective rights and duties, all pursuant to and in accordance with the 
pertinent City Codified Ordinances. The City agrees that those reviews and approvals shall not 
be unreasonably conditioned, delayed or withheld. 
 
The area encompassed by the Project and the Incentive Districts (as defined below) lacks the 
infrastructure necessary for the development of the Project. The area does not contain the 
necessary water, sanitary sewer or storm sewer infrastructure or roadways needed for the Project. 
It is necessary for the City to use, or cause to be used, the service payments in lieu of taxes to 
pay the costs of that necessary infrastructure.   
 
Proposed Incentive Districts 
 

The Project site, in its entirety, lies within the City’s Community Reinvestment Area #6 
(the “CRA”). Whereas mentioned above, the City has determined that the public infrastructure is 
inadequate to serve the needs of the Project, and in order to facilitate the construction of the Public 
improvements, the City desires to enact the TIF Ordinance under the TIF Statute whereby it will 
create multiple tax increment financing incentive districts and declare that one- hundred percent 
(100%) of the increased in assessed value of the Developer property will be a public purpose and 



P a g e  | 3 
 

Creekside Woods Economic Development Plan- 2025 
  

exempt from real property taxation in accordance with the TIF Statue for a period of thirty (30) 
years. 
 
Public Infrastructure Improvements 
 

Service payments in lieu of taxes collected from the proposed Incentive District will fund 
certain public infrastructure improvements necessary to support residential development, 
including, without limitation, the acquisition, construction, equipping and installation of utilities 
and roadways, the acquisition and construction of certain permanent improvement amenities (as 
set forth below) (collectively, the “Public Infrastructure Improvements”). The Developer agrees 
that it will proceed in good faith and with all reasonable dispatch to design, construct and install 
the Public Infrastructure Improvements, which are expected to be constructed and installed in 
various phases throughout the Project, and to perform any and all of its duties and obligations 
relating to the Public Infrastructure Improvements in a manner consistent with the Development 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) in order that the portion of the Public Infrastructure Improvements 
required for access to each phase of the Project will be open and available to the public on or before 
the date on which a certificate of occupancy is issued for that phase of the Project, and it will 
perform any and all of its duties and obligations relating to the Public Infrastructure Improvements 
in a manner consistent with the Agreement. 

 
The Developer shall be responsible for the following Public Infrastructure Improvements 

with respect to the Project: water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and roadway infrastructure. It shall 
be the obligation of the Developer to construct the water lines, hydrants, valves, irrigation systems 
and related appurtenances within the Project, which water lines, hydrants, valves, irrigation 
systems and related appurtenances shall be installed and inspected pursuant to plans and 
specifications approved by the City Engineer in accordance with the City’s standard requirements. 
Specific to this Project, the City shall assume maintenance responsibilities for the underground 
storm pipes while the Developer, or its successors, shall be responsible for the maintenance of all 
other components of the storm sewer collection system including related onsite and offsite regional 
detention and/or retention ponds to the City which will be designated on the detailed development 
plan(s) and plat(s) for the Project. Developer will construct approximately $? million in Public 
Infrastructure Improvements. The City will issue tax increment revenue financing obligations to 
pay the costs of such Public Infrastructure Improvements and use certain of the service payments 
in lieu of taxes to repay such obligations. 

 
Additional Public Infrastructure Improvements will also include the replacement, repair, 

maintenance, and/or construction of new or existing permanent improvement amenities located 
within the Incentive District. For the purposes of this phase, “permanent improvement” shall have 
the same meaning as defined in Section 133.01(CC) of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 
Other Public Infrastructure Improvements will also include all Public infrastructure 

improvements (as that term is defined in Section 5709.40(A)(8) of the Ohio Revised Code) that 
directly benefit, or that once made will directly benefit, the Incentive District, as detailed in the 
Citywide Infrastructure Reliance Study prepared by LBJ, Inc. (see Attachment B), dated 
September 30, 2022. Such Public Infrastructure Improvements will also include, but not be limited 
to, excavating, grading, paving, constructing and installing curbs and gutters, public utilities which 



P a g e  | 4 

include water mains, sanitary sewers, and storm sewers, street lighting, sidewalks, bikeways, 
landscaping, traffic signalization, and also including design and other related costs, any right-of-
way acquisition, erosion and sediment control measures, grading and other related work, survey 
work, soil engineering and construction staking, and in each case, all other costs and improvements 
necessary and appurtenant thereto, all of which will directly benefit, or that one made will direct 
benefit the Incentive Districts.   

Conclusion  

Residential development has been an important catalyst to the City’s economic development 
success. The proposed development area will serve as an additive for sustaining such economic 
development in the City.  The residential development will provide a desired housing option for 
the City’s growing population. The public infrastructure improvements will support the 
residential development by providing much needed utility and road infrastructure and increasing 
the safety levels of the pedestrian transportation and recreational amenities utilized by the 
residents of the proposed development.  The proposed Incentive Districts are located in an area 
identified by the City for growth and development 

Analysis and Assessment   

The proposed residential development described in this Plan will help play a vital role in 
supporting the growth and preservation of the community through planned development. The 
proposed residential development will create an urgent need for infrastructure upgrades in this area 
of the City. The service payments in lieu of taxes generated by the proposed Incentive Districts 
will assist in financing public infrastructure improvements vital to the growth and development of 
the proposed development. Moreover, the Incentive Districts will ensure such amenities are 
maintained in a timely and appropriate manner to ensure their safe and effective use by residents 
of the proposed development. 

 

Creekside Woods Economic Development Plan- 2025 



Creekside Woods – Development Plan 



EXHIBIT B













































































































   
AI-10972     Pending Business      B.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Tri-Cities Sewer Tap Fees
Submitted By: Aaron Sorrell
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services
Council Committee Review?: Council Work

Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 06/17/2025

Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Completed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
An Ordinance Amending Section 934.09 Of The Huber Heights Code Of Ordinances Pertaining To Sanitary Sewer
Fees And Regulations.
(second reading)

Purpose and Background
The Tri-Cities Wastewater Authority (TCA) is in the process of an estimated $150,000,000 expansion and
modernization project consisting of three main projects: flow equalization tanks, a new trunk line, and plant repair
and expansion.  The improvements are being sized to accommodate the next 20 years of anticipated growth
among the three owner jurisdictions.  The TCA Board of Trustees is recommending each jurisdiction adopt a
"capacity charge" fee to offset the cost of the improvements for future growth.  This fee will be collected by the
three member jurisdictions and remitted to TCA.  This is a one-time fee paid by future developments, not current
rate payers.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:
This is a pass-through fee collected by the City and remitted to TCA.  

Attachments
Ordinance 
Attachment A 



1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-O-

AMENDING SECTION 934.09 OF THE HUBER HEIGHTS CODE OF ORDINANCES
PERTAINING TO SANITARY SEWER FEES AND REGULATIONS.

WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights, along with the Cities of Tipp City and Vandalia, co-
owns and operates a jointly governed facility for the treatment of sanitary sewer, the Tri-Cities
North Regional Wastewater Authority (TCA) located on Needmore Road in the City of
Riverside, and

WHEREAS, the TCA treatment facilities are at maximum capacity and significant portions of
the facility infrastructure are 40+ years of age and showing severe deterioration, and

WHEREAS, the TCA Board Of Trustees has determined it necessary to rebuild, replace, expand,
and renovate the treatment facilities, which project the TCA Board Of Trustees has determined
to be necessary for both current and future operations, and

WHEREAS, these construction projects (Flow Equalization, New Trunk Line, and Plant Repair
and Replacement) are estimated to cost approximately. $150,000,000.00 to be constructed during
2025-2029, and

WHEREAS, the treatment plant upgrades have been sized for twenty years of projected future
growth in the three communities, which future growth is expected to account for approximately.
35% of the plant capacity, and

WHEREAS, the TCA Board Of Trustees has determined it appropriate to enact a capacity fee for
future development to help offset part of the cost of the plant improvements to be used by future
growth, and

WHEREAS, these capacity fees should be approved by the City Councils of the three member
communities, and

WHEREAS, it is now the will of this Council to amend Chapter 934 of the Codified Ordinances
of Huber Heights, Ohio, to provide for the sewer capacity charges and other modifications noted
above.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. That Section 934.09 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Huber Heights be
amended as reflected in Attachment A of this Ordinance.

Section 2.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that
all deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions
were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements,
including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______  Yeas; ______  Nays.

Effective Date:



AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



Attachment A

Huber Heights, Ohio, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 1 of 10

CHAPTER 934 RATES AND FEES FOR WATER DISTRIBUTION AND SANITARY
SEWER SERVICES1

1Cross reference(s)—Water and sewer rate change procedure—See § 921.01; Sanitary sewer regulations—See Ch.
923; Water distribution regulations—See Ch. 929.

State law reference(s)—Sewerage rates—See ORC 729.49.



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:11 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 2 of 10

934.01 Definitions.

As used in this chapter, certain terms are defined as follows:

Debt service charge means the funds used for the retirement of and interest on, bonds and/or notes
authorized and issued by the City to construct sewage system facilities and purchase the sewer system from Ohio
Suburban Water.

Normal domestic sewage means wastewater collected from dwelling units, commercial and institutional
buildings. It consists primarily of spent water from building water supply to which have been added waste
materials from bathroom, kitchen, and laundry.

Operation and maintenance costs means the costs incurred in the act of keeping all facilities for collecting,
pumping, treating, and disposing of sewage in the good state of repair and functioning properly including the
replacement of said facilities when necessary.

Replacement means expenditures for obtaining and installing equipment, accessories, and appurtenances
which are necessary during the useful life of the treatment works to maintain the capability and performance for
which such works were designed and constructed.

Sewer service charges means the total charge levied against the users of the sewage system for sewer
services. This charge includes user charges plus the cost of debt services.

User charges means the charge assessed users of the sewage system to recover the cost of operation
maintenance and repair (OM&R) of the sewage collection and sewage treatment system, and the cost of rendering
bills and collecting sewer service charges.

Residential user means a principal family residence or habitation classified as a single family, individually
metered multi-family, or individually metered dwelling that discharges domestic sanitary wastewater, having
characteristics of 250 milligrams per liter (mg/l) biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and 200 milligrams per liter
(mg/l) suspended solids (SS) into the public wastewater treatment system, works, and facility.

Commercial user means any single metered multi-family residential building, retail business, or wholesale
business that discharges primarily normal strength wastewater into the public wastewater treatment system,
works or facility. For purposes of water and sewer rates, a commercial user shall also include
institutional/governmental users.

Institutional/governmental user means hospitals, nursing homes, schools, City, County, State, or Federal
buildings or facilities that discharge wastewater into the public wastewater treatment system, works and facility.

(Ord. 95-O-825, Passed 9-11-95; Ord. 2002-O-1358, Passed 8-12-02)

934.02 Water distribution rates.

(a) Except as provided elsewhere in this section, water rates for all customers, including customers that reside
within the City limits that are in the Huber East Water District System shall be as follows.

(1) The billing period shall be monthly and include estimated or actual readings.

(2) The water rates to be charged shall be based on the volume of water consumption and the size of the
water meter(s) servicing a property as follows:

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Consumption Volume

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Rate Per 100 Cubic Feet

0 to 1500 cubic feet $3.1201
Over 1500 cubic feet $2.6381



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 3 of 10

(3) Monthly service charges for water distribution services shall be based on the size of the largest meter
servicing a property as follows:

Effective with the first billing in
March 2025: 
Meter Size

Effective with the first billing in
March 2025: 
Residential User 
Service Charge

Effective with the first billing in
March 2025: 
Commercial User 
Service Charge

⅝" $18.01 $18.01
1" $44.54 $44.54
1 ½" $88.78 $94.73
2" $141.79 $151.27
3" $265.55 $283.29
4" $448.57 $478.61

Monthly service charges for water distribution for meter sizes not enumerated above shall be determined by
the City Engineer in proportion to the rates for meter sizes listed above. The Citizens Water and Sewer Advisory
Board shall hear appeals concerning service charge determinations by the City Engineer and provide a
recommendation of final action to the City Council. The City Council shall make the final decision regarding any
appeal concerning service charge determinations by the City Engineer.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this section, Huber East Water District customers located outside of the City
limits shall pay rates according to the following schedule:

(1) Monthly service charge based on meter size.

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Meter Size

Effective with the first billing in March 
2025: 
Service Charge

⅝" $26.66
1" $64.05
1 ½" $126.33
2" $201.06
3" $375.49

(2) Volume charge based on the volume of consumption per cubic feet.

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Consumption Volume

Effective with the first billing in March 
2025: 
Rate Per 100 Cubic Feet

0 to 1500 cubic feet $7.2304
Over 1500 cubic feet $6.2426

(c) Water Rates for Commercial/Industrial Customers not Within the City Limits.

(1) Commercial/Industrial Water District customers located outside of the City limits shall pay rates
according to the following schedule:

A. Monthly service charge based on meter size.



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 4 of 10

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Meter Size

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Service Charge

⅝" $32.01
1" $76.87
1 ½" $161.80
2" $257.46
3" $480.77

B. Volume charge based on the volume of consumption per cubic feet.

Effective with the first billing in March 2025: 
Consumption Volume

Effective with the first billing in March 
2025: 
Rate Per 100 Cubic Feet

0 to 1500 cubic feet $8.6761
Over 1500 cubic feet $7.5121

(d) Customer Equivalents. When the City agrees to provide service to apartment buildings, condominiums,
townhouses, mobile home parks and office buildings to which water is furnished through a single meter, for
the purpose of distribution to several customers, such billings shall be determined on the following bases:

(1) The amounts of each such billing shall be determined on the basis of the "customer equivalents"
provided by the meter employed. Such customer equivalents shall be determined by comparing the
size of the meter in cross section area with the cross-section area of the five-eighths inches meter,
which is the size of meter most typically installed on a service line which serves a single-family dwelling
or single professional or business office. Such relationship is as follows:

Meter Size Customer Equivalent
⅝" 1 Customer Equivalent
1" 2.5 Customer Equivalent
1 ½" 5 Customer Equivalent
2" 8 Customer Equivalent
3" 15 Customer Equivalent
4" 40 Customer Equivalent

(2) To determine the amount of any billing for water service pursuant to such special arrangement:

A. The total consumption through the meter during the billing period will be divided by the
customer equivalent for the meter included:

B. The applicable usage rates contained in this chapter will then be applied to the quotient to
determine the charge per customer equivalent; and

C. Such charge per equivalent will then be multiplied by the customer equivalent for that meter, the
product of such multiplication plus the customer charge producing the total bill as to that meter
for that billing period.

(Ord. 2011-O-1895, Passed 6-27-11; Ord. No. 2018-O-2343, § 1, 9-10-18; Ord. No. 2022-O-2521, § 1, 3-14-22;
Memorandum of 3-17-2023, § 2; Memorandum of 3-4-2024(1), eff. 3-1-24; Ord. No. 2024-O-2638, § 1, 6-12-24;
Memorandum of 02-12-2025, eff. 3-1-25)



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 5 of 10

Editor's note(s)—Section 2 of Ord. No. 2018-O-2343 provides "Effective with the April 2021 billing, all of the water
rates then in effect shall be subject to an annual cost of living increase based on Consumer Price Index, Series
ID # CUURD200SA0, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, using the 12-
month percentage change of December to December."

934.03 Sanitary sewer rates.

(a) Except as provided elsewhere in this section, sanitary sewer rates for all customers shall be as provided
below.

(1) The billing period for sanitary sewer rates shall be monthly.

(2) The sanitary sewer rates to be charged shall be based on the volume of water consumption measured
by meters servicing customers of the system, and the size of the water meter(s) servicing a property as
follows:

Consumption Volume Rate per 100 Cubic Foot
Per Cubic Foot $1.5338

(3) Consumption charges shall be used to pay for wastewater treatment service charges billed to the City.

(4) Residential customers with sanitary sewer service and no water service, and therefore no water meter
shall be billed at a rate of $15.66 per month plus the monthly service charge which, for these
customers, shall be at the rate of the five-eighths inches meter.

(5) Monthly service charges for sanitary sewer services shall be based on the size of the largest meter
servicing a property as follows:

Meter Size Residential User Service Charge Commercial User Service Charge
⅝" $9.55 $9.55
1" $23.87 $23.87
1 ½" $47.75 $49.77
2" $76.39 $79.65
3" $143.22 $149.34
4" $186.84 $192.96
6" $242.89 $250.85

Monthly service charges for water distribution for meter sizes not enumerated above shall be determined by
the City Engineer in proportion to the rates for meter sizes listed above. The Citizens Water and Sewer Advisory
Board shall hear appeals concerning service charge determinations by the City Engineer and provide a
recommendation of final action to the City Council. The City Council shall make the final decision regarding any
appeal concerning service charge determinations by the City Engineer.

(b) Rates for the Miami Villa Sewerage District. For any lot, parcel of land, building or premises situated within
the Miami Villa plat limits of the City, having any connection with the City sanitary sewer system or otherwise
discharging wastewater, either directly or indirectly, into the City sanitary sewer system, a monthly charge or
rental shall be based upon the number of bedrooms or occupants of the facility, or by other means
acceptable to the City Manager.

(1) The rates for residential users shall be as follows:

Number of Bedrooms Number of Residents Monthly Billing



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 6 of 10

1-3 1-3 $17.77
4 4 $23.70
5+ 5+ $29.61

(2) The rates for commercial users shall be as follows:

A. Restaurants, bars, etc$1.57 per seat

B. Churches and public assembly hall$0.08 per seat

C. Manufacturing plant$1.57 per employee

(3) Vacant property in the Miami Villa Sewerage District shall be billed at one-half the rate stated above
for occupied property, provided notification of the vacancy is given to the City.

(c) Consistent with the provisions of Ohio R.C. 729.49, charges as established under this section shall constitute
a lien upon the property served by such connection and if not paid when due shall be collected in the same
manner as other municipal corporation taxes. The Clerk of Council is hereby authorized to take such actions
necessary to assure that charges which are delinquent in excess of 60 days shall be placed as a lien upon the
property and shall be collected in the same manner as other municipal corporation taxes, through property
tax assessment.

(Ord. 2011-O-1895, Passed 6-27-11; Ord. No. 2022-O-2521, § 2, 3-14-22; Ord. No. 2024-O-2626, § 1, passed 1-22-
24; Ord. No. 2024-O-2638, § 3, 6-12-24)

934.04 Sewer service charges annual audit.

The sewer service charge and user rates shall be reviewed annually by the City in order to determine
whether or not they are sufficient to defray the fixed charges, amortization costs, and annual cost of operation
maintenance and repair (OM&R) of the sewage system. If the difference between the total annual revenue derived
and the total annual cost is sufficient to justify an increase or decrease in the sewer service charge or user charges,
the City will adjust the rates as required. The purpose of the annual review is also to maintain a proportional user
charge.

(Ord. 2002-O-1385, Passed 8-12-02)

934.05 Sewer service charge notification.

Each user is to be notified at least annually in conjunction with a regular bill or other notice to each account,
of the rate and that portion of the sewer service charge which is attributable to operation maintenance and repair
(OM&R) costs of wastewater treatment services.

(Ord. 95-O-825, Passed 9-11-95)

934.06 Sewage or industrial waste surcharges.

(a) Sewage or industrial wastes above normal sewage strength, but acceptable for discharge into the sanitary
sewage system shall be subject to a surcharge. The surcharge shall be determined on the basis of either or
both of two constituents of water or wastes:

(1) Total suspended solids; and/or

(2) Five day biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) at 20 degrees Centigrade and as herein provided.



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 7 of 10

(b) When either or both of the total suspended solids and the biochemical oxygen demand of a water or waste
accepted for admission to the system exceed the values of their constituents for normal sewage, the excess
concentration in either or both, as the case may be, shall be subject to a surcharge as follows:

(1) Pounds of excess suspended solids per day multiplied by 0.0132 dollars per pound equals the
suspended solids surcharge.

(2) Pounds of excess BOD per day multiplied by 0.0178 dollars per pound equals the biochemical oxygen
demand surcharge.

(c) In addition to the surcharge, the user will pay the use charges as defined.

(d) The pounds of BOD per day and/or SS per day, above the concentrations previously described for normal
strength sewage that are discharged to the sewerage system, shall be determined by the City or their
authorized representative.

(e) In addition to a surcharge on BOD and SS, the City shall have the right to surcharge the user for the discharge
of any other pollutant into the sewage system.

(Ord. 95-O-825, Passed 9-11-95)

934.07 Fees generally.

The fees established in this chapter shall be in addition to and separate from the rates established by Council
for water and sanitary sewer services provided by the City.

(Ord. 95-O-812, Passed 7-10-95)

934.08 Fees applicable to water and sewer accounts.

(a) Antenna replacement fee: $18.00
(b) Account activation charge: $20.00
(c) Construction water: (flat rate per month) $17.27 per unit
(d) Meter reconnection fee: $25.00

The reconnection fee for delinquent accounts shall be $25.00 for those customers who
have not exceeded two service termination(s) over the prior 24 months else the
reconnection fee shall be equal to $50.00.

(e) Requested meter testing: $42.00
(f) Anytime service is requested between a customer to the water and sanitary sewer

system and the City, the customer shall be present at the agreed-upon time and meeting
location no later than 20 minutes after the scheduled time without being subject to
remitting the City for the personnel time that was expended, which includes the sum of
the hourly wage, benefits and administrative costs. If the City is not present at the
agreed-upon time and meeting location within 20 minutes of the scheduled time, the
requested service shall be rendered at no cost to the customer.

(Ord. 2011-O-1895, Passed 6-27-11)



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 8 of 10

934.09 Fees for facilities.

(a) Water Tap-In Permit Fees. Tap-in permit fees for water shall be determined according to the following
schedule:

Tap/Meter Size Tap-In Fee
5/8 x ¾ $ 750.00
1 1,400.00
1 ½ 2,500.00
2 3,750.00
3 7,500.00
4 12,000.00
6 23,000.00
8 36,000.00

Tap-in fees for meter sizes not enumerated above shall be determined by the City Engineer based upon accepted
engineering standards for water use, and in proportion to fees for given meter sizes. The City Manager shall hear
and decide appeals concerning fee determinations by the City Engineer.

(b) Inspection Fee. The inspection fee for water and/or sanitary sewer shall be: Water and/or Sanitary Sewer per
lineal foot: $3.50.

(c) Connection Charges. Concurrent with the payment of a tap-in fee to the City by an owner or consumer who
hereafter taps into the water system, there shall be paid a connection charge in accordance with the
provisions of this section, in addition to the required tap-in fee, if Council has designated the property as part
of a district subject to a connection charge.

(1) Council may, from time to time, find and declare that the cost of the connection to any water line in
designated districts of the City may also include a connection charge. The amount of such connection
charge shall be established by Council for each designated district. Such connection charge shall
apportion the actual cost of the installation of such water line, including labor, equipment and
materials, among the several owners or consumers who may be benefited thereby.

(2) An owner or consumer who taps into the water system and is charged a connection charge, may pay
the connection charge in full at the time of the tap-in or may select to pay monthly installments as part
of a payment plan ("payment plan"). The City must approve all payments plans and may require the
consumer to execute and deliver to the City a promissory note in the amount owed for the connection
charge. In no case shall the City approve a payment plan providing for more than 120 monthly
installments. The number of installments shall be selected by the consumer initially and may not be
changed once approved by the City. If a payment plan is selected and approved by the City, the first
installment shall be due when the tap-in permit is issued. Subsequent installments shall be due with
the payment of the monthly water bill. Installments shall include:

A. Equal payments of the principal amount of the connection charge, plus interest accrued thereon
at a rate determined by the City at the time of application for a tap-in permit as the City's then
estimated interest rate payable by the City for the construction and operation of water mains,
amortized over the number of months of installments chosen by the consumer; and

B. An administrative fee equal to five percent of the installment.

(3) A map of the City and environs shall be established and the same shall be posted in Municipal Building
giving notice to all persons who may be interested in those areas and tracts of land in the City and
environs which are subject to a water line connection charge.



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 9 of 10

(d) Sanitary Sewer Lateral Permit Fee. Sanitary sewer lateral permit fees shall be determined according to the
following schedule based on the size of the water meter:

Water Meter Size Permit Fee
5/8 x 3/4 $ 450.00
1 900.00
1 1/2 1,700.00
2 2,750.00
3 5,500.00
4 8,500.00
6 16,500.00
8 25,500.00

Permit fees for meter sizes not enumerated above shall be determined by the City Engineer based upon accepted
engineering standards for water use, and in proportion to fees for given meter sizes. The City Manager shall hear
and decide appeals concerning fee determinations by the City Engineer.

(e) TCA Capacity Fee.  A pass-through wastewater treatment capacity fee to be collected for all new
development which will be remitted to the Tri-Cities North Regional Wastewater Authority (TCA) on an annual
basis for all future residential, commercial, and industrial development.  This additional capacity fee will be used by
TCA for the payment of debt service related to the 2025-2029 plant improvement projects.  The capacity fee for
wastewater treatment services as outlined herein may be subject to change by the Tri Cities North Regional
Wastewater Authority.  In the event of said change, either in the form of increased or decreased capacity charges,
the City Manager is hereby authorized to incorporate those changes into the municipal sewage billing structure to
reflect the increase or decrease in charges.  This shall not be construed to grant the City Manager the authority to
alter in any way the city base sewer service charge above without the formal approval of Council.

Water Meter Size TCA Capacity Fee
5/8” $ 2,500.00
3/4" $ 3,750.00
1" $ 6,250.00
1.5" $ 12,500.00
2" $ 20,000.00
3" $ 60,000.00
4" $ 105,000.00
6" $ 227,500.00
8" $ 400,000.00
10” or larger $ 625,000.00

934.10 Reserved.

Editor's note(s)—Former Section 934.10, which pertained to sanitary lateral permit fee, was repealed by Ordinance
97-O-983, passed August 25, 1997.

934.11 Miscellaneous fees.

(a) Bad check charge $35.00
(b) Regulations and Specifications $25.00
(c) Significant industrial user annual fee $100.00



   Created: 2025-06-03 14:21:12 [EST]

(Supp. No. 22)

Page 10 of 10

(d) Duplicate Disconnect Notice fee current postal rates

(Ord. 2011-O-1895, Passed 6-27-11)

934.12 Protection from bearing entire construction cost.

An individual or firm that must provide water and/or sanitary sewer improvements to properties other than
those owned by the individual or firm, is eligible for protection from bearing the entire cost of construction by fees
collected by the City pursuant to this section from other owners whose properties are served by the water and/or
sanitary sewer improvements and seek to tap- in to such lines during the term of protection. Protection shall apply
to any property which directly benefits by the installation of a sewer and/or water main and does not participate in
the cost of the improvement.

To qualify, the individual or firm installing the improvement must submit a written request, along with the
estimated construction costs in a form acceptable to the City prior to construction. Once construction is
completed, final construction costs must be submitted to the City. The City and the individual or firm will enter into
an agreement on terms and conditions acceptable to the City for a period of time not to exceed ten years. During
that time, the City will collect a charge from owners of properties benefitted by such sewer and/or water main
who request a tap-in permit. The total maximum protection to the original installation shall equal one-half of the
actual cost of construction of the main. The amount collected shall be refunded annually, to the individual or firm
bearing the expense of the installation of such main.

(Ord. 95-O-812, Passed 7-10-95)



   
AI-10995     New Business      A.        
City Council Meeting City Council             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
2026 Tax Budget - Public Hearing
Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council
Council Committee Review?: Council Work Session  
Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025  
Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

N/A

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
A Public Hearing Scheduled For July 14, 2025 By The Huber Heights City Council For Discussion Of
The 2026 Tax Budget.

Purpose and Background
There is a need to have a public hearing for approval of the 2026 Tax Budget prepared by the Director
of Finance.

Fiscal Impact
Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
AI-10998     New Business      B.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
2026 Tax Budget
Submitted By: Jim Bell
Department: Assistant City Manager - Finance/ED Division: Finance/Tax
Council Committee Review?: Council Work Session  
Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025  
Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
A Resolution Adopting A Preliminary Tax Budget For Revenues Of The City Of Huber Heights, Ohio For The Period Beginning
January 1, 2026 And Ending December 31, 2026.
(first reading)

Purpose and Background
This legislation is a formality to adopt the 2026 Tax Budget.  The resolution is to adopt the Tax Budget for Fiscal Year 2026,
and this adoption is the beginning of the budget process.  The Miami County Auditor is requesting that the City submit the Tax
Budget as proof of the need for Miami County's distribution of property taxes and Local Government Fund revenue to the City. 
A public hearing on the 2026 Tax Budget is scheduled for the July 14, 2025 City Council Meeting.  The 2026 Tax Budget is
required to be submitted to the Miami County Auditor by July 20, 2025.  City Staff respectfully request a first reading and
adoption of the legislation at the July 14, 2025 City Council Meeting as non-emergency legislation.

Fiscal Impact
Source of Funds: Various Funds
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:
There are no financial implications at this time.  This preliminary 2026 Tax Budget only provides revenue estimates.  This will
not be the final 2026 Appropriations Budget which will be presented to the City Council later this year.

Attachments
Resolution 
Exhibit A 



1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-R-

ADOPTING A PRELIMINARY TAX BUDGET FOR REVENUES OF THE CITY OF HUBER
HEIGHTS, OHIO FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2026 AND ENDING
DECEMBER 31, 2026.

WHEREAS, a budget process is required by the State of Ohio for each local government to
demonstrate the need for taxes which it plans to levy and which is used in most counties to
allocate the Local Government Fund to jurisdictions within the County; and

WHEREAS, some County Budget Commissions require a Preliminary Tax Budget to be
submitted by municipalities within their jurisdictions in July of each year; and

WHEREAS, the Montgomery County Budget Commission has waived the requirement to file a
Preliminary Tax Budget; and

WHEREAS, the Miami County Budget Commission requires the City to file a Preliminary
Tax Budget: and

WHEREAS, the Preliminary Tax Budget has been made conveniently available to public
inspection for at least ten (10) days by having at least two (2) copies thereof on file in the Office
of the Director of Finance; and

WHEREAS, the Council has held a public hearing on said Tax Budget of which public notice
was given by publication not less than ten (10) days previous to the date thereof; and

WHEREAS, such Tax Budget must be adopted on or before the fifteenth day of July; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of Huber Heights finds the Tax Budget for the year 2026, as
proposed and made part hereof, satisfactory and acceptable; and

WHEREAS, the Preliminary Tax Budget is not a final budget, and is used primarily as an
estimate and to show that the municipality will still need its share of the Local Government Fund
money that is distributed by the County Budget Commissions.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. The Preliminary Tax Budget of the City of Huber Heights for the Fiscal Year
beginning January 1, 2026 is hereby approved as set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

Section 2. The Director of Finance is hereby authorized and directed to submit the
approved Preliminary Tax Budget for 2026 and a certified copy of this Resolution to the Miami
County Auditor in accordance with statute, and also to send a copy to the Montgomery County
Auditor.

Section 3.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Resolution were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that
all deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions
were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements,
including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 4. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______ Yeas; ______ Nays.

Effective Date:



2

AUTHENTICATION:

______________________________ ______________________________
Clerk of Council Mayor

______________________________ ______________________________
Date Date













   
AI-11004     New Business      C.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Supplemental Appropriations
Submitted By: Jim Bell
Department: City Manager
Council Committee Review?: Council Work Session  
Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025  
Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
An Ordinance Authorizing Transfers Between Various Funds Of The City Of Huber Heights, Ohio And
Amending Ordinance No. 2024-O-2676 By Making Supplemental Appropriations For Expenses Of The
City Of Huber Heights, Ohio For The Period Beginning January 1, 2025 And Ending December 31,
2025.
(first reading)

Purpose and Background
The supplemental appropriations are for the following purposes:

- $36,497.05 transfer from Law Enforcement Assistance Grant Fund to the Police Fund to reimburse
Police personnel training expenses (matched by a grant).
- $3,382,000 for the design and construction work for renovations of City Hall (covered by note
proceeds).
- $5,000,000 for the purpose of improving the City's entertainment district in TED Project Area #1.  This
increase is for design, engineering, planning, and related pre-construction activities necessary for site
preparation of the new indoor music facility (covered by note proceeds).

Fiscal Impact
Source of Funds: Capital Improvement Fund
Cost: $0.00
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): No
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:
The increase in the Capital Improvement Budget and the TED Fund Budget is covered in total by an
increase in revenue from the recent notes issued by the City.

Attachments
Ordinance 



1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-O-

AUTHORIZING TRANSFERS BETWEEN VARIOUS FUNDS OF THE CITY OF HUBER
HEIGHTS, OHIO AND AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2024-O-2676 BY MAKING
SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR EXPENSES OF THE CITY OF HUBER
HEIGHTS, OHIO FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2025 AND ENDING
DECEMBER 31, 2025.

WHEREAS, supplemental appropriations for expenses of the City of Huber Heights must be
made for appropriations of funds for various 2025 operating and project funding.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. Authorization is hereby given to transfer certain monies up to amounts not
exceeding those shown and for the purposes cited in Exhibit A, and such authorization applies to
any and all such transfers necessary and effected after January 1, 2025.

Section 2.  Ordinance No. 2024-O-2676 is hereby amended as shown in Exhibit B of this
Ordinance.

Section 3.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and relating to
the passage of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that all deliberations of
this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions were conducted in meetings
open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio
Revised Code.

Section 4. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter of
the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______  Yeas; ______  Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



2

EXHIBIT A

Transfer:
Amount Fund From Fund To Purpose
$36,497.05 242 Law Enf Assist. Grant 209 Police Police training reimbursements



3

EXHIBIT B

AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2024-O-2676 BY MAKING APPROPRIATIONS FOR EXPENSES OF THE
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, OHIO FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2025 AND ENDING
DECEMBER 31, 2025.

1) Section 17 of Ordinance No. 2024-O-2676 is hereby amended to reflect an increase in the appropriations
of the 242 Law Enforcement Assistance Grant Fund, as follows:
a. Non-Departmental, Transfers of $36,497.05

2) Section 34 of Ordinance No. 2024-O-2676 is hereby amended to reflect an increase in the appropriations
of the 406 Capital Improvement Fund, as follows:
a. Subsection c) Capital, Operations and Capital of $3,382,000.00.

3) Section 35 of Ordinance No. 2024-O-2676 is hereby amended to reflect an increase in the appropriations
of the 410 Transformative Economic Development Fund, as follows:
a. Subsection a) Economic Development, Operations and Capital of $5,000,000.00.

Law Enforcement Assist. Grant Fund $36,497.05

Capital Improvement Fund $3,382,000.00

Transformative Economic Dev Fund $5,000,000.00



   
AI-11002     New Business      D.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Petition - New Community Authority (NCA)
Submitted By: Aaron Sorrell
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services
Council Committee Review?: Council

Work
Session

Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025

Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Completed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
A Resolution To Determine That The Petition To Establish The Huber Heights New Community
Authority (NCA) Is Sufficient And Complies With The Requirements Of The Ohio Revised Code; To Set
The Time And Place For A Public Hearing On The Petition; And To Authorize The Notice Of Such
Public Hearing By Publication.
(first reading)

Purpose and Background
This legislation accepts the New Community Authority (NCA) Petition to be filed with the Clerk of
Council by the City Manager on behalf of the City of Huber Heights and GLJ Holdings (jointly the
developers).  This legislation also sets a public hearing date of Wednesday, August 13, 2025 at 2:00
P.M. regarding the NCA and directs the City Manager to advertise the public hearing according to the
procedures outlined in the Ohio Revised Code.

Fiscal Impact
Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Petition 
Resolution 



























































































t;
 

-�
 

1-(,/)
 

-C
 

1-z
 

w
 

�
 

z
 

-�
 

w
 

1-z
 

w
 

(,/)
 

1-:::c
 

C,
 

w
 

:::c
 

w
 

:::c
 

I-





f1il; 
i J / 1 1 
E:

' 
. 

:!t
 

!f!:
i'

'
 

!�-: 
; 

u.
�

:H 't 
Eit! 

)
 

I I 
. 

,. 
; 

\
 I \ \ I L

 
r

 
I 

I 
I I I 

I
 

r I I I I I \ I
 

I I II \ 
I 

\ 
l

!



































































































































































































































1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-R-

TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ESTABLISH THE HUBER HEIGHTS NEW
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY (NCA) IS SUFFICIENT AND COMPLIES WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE; TO SET THE TIME AND PLACE FOR
A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PETITION; AND TO AUTHORIZE THE NOTICE OF SUCH
PUBLIC HEARING BY PUBLICATION.

WHEREAS, a Petition for the organization of the Huber Heights New Community Authority
(NCA) (the “Authority”) under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 349 (the “Petition”) has been
submitted to this Council by the City of Huber Heights and GLJ Holding Company LLC; and

WHEREAS, the Authority’s new community district, as described in the Petition, is
approximately 373.920 in size, consists of the City’s Heights Entertainment District and the
Carriage Trails II development area, and is located entirely within the municipal corporate
boundaries of the City, and this Council, as the legislative authority of the City, is therefore the
organizational board of commissioners and the only proximate community for purposes of the
Petition; and

WHEREAS, this Council has reviewed the Petition, and by this Resolution desires to
legislatively determine, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03, that the Petition
complies with the requirements of that section as to form and substance, to set the time and place
of a public hearing on the Petition, and to authorize the notice by publication of the public
hearing on the Petition.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. This Council hereby acknowledges and determines that, pursuant to Ohio Revised
Code Section 349.01(F)(3), it is the “organizational board of commissioners” of the Huber
Heights New Community Authority for all purposes of Ohio Revised Code Chapter 349.  This
Council further determines that the City of Huber Heights, Ohio is the only “proximate
community” as defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 349.01(M).

Section 2. This Council has examined the Petition and finds and determines that the Petition
is sufficient and complies with the requirements of Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03 in form
and substance.  This Council hereby ratifies the City’s execution of the Petition.

Section 3. This Council hereby determines to hold a public hearing on the Petition on
Wednesday, August 13, 2025 at the Huber Heights City Hall, 6131 Taylorsville Road Huber
Heights, Ohio 45424, at 2:00 p.m., and this Council hereby authorizes each of the City Attorney,
the Clerk of Council, and the City Manager, or any of them individually, to cause notice of the
public hearing to be published once a week for three consecutive weeks, or as provided in Ohio
Revised Code Section 7.16, in a newspaper of general circulation within Montgomery County,
Ohio and Miami County, Ohio, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03(A).

Section 4.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Resolution were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that
all deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions
were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements,
including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 5. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______ Yeas; ______ Nays.

Effective Date:



-2-

AUTHENTICATION:

______________________________ ______________________________
Clerk of Council Mayor

______________________________ ______________________________
Date Date



   
AI-11001     New Business      E.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Veolia Water Contract - Fifth Amendment
Submitted By: Aaron Sorrell
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services
Council Committee Review?: Council

Work
Session

Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025

Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Completed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into A Fifth Amendment To The Operations And
Maintenance Agreement With Veolia Water Contract Operations USA, Inc.
(first reading)

Purpose and Background
This legislation authorizes a Fifth Amendment with Veolia Water Contract Operations USA, Inc. for the
operations and maintenance of the City's water and wastewater systems.  The changes found in this
Fifth Amendment include: 

Third-party damage reimbursements apply to fire hydrants and water meters.
Raises the minor maintenance threshold to $15,000.
Creates a "staff vacancy credit" program whereby Veolia Water reimburses the City for positions
vacant longer than 90 days.
Increases the base fee amount due to market wage adjustments, chemical costs, and increased
staffing.

Fiscal Impact
Source of Funds: Water Fund/Sewer Fund
Cost: $4,980,000 (Estimated)
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): Yes
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): Yes
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution 
Exhibit A 



1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-R-

AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A FIFTH AMENDMENT TO
THE OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH VEOLIA WATER
CONTRACT OPERATIONS USA, INC.

WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights contracts with Veolia Water Contract Operations USA,
Inc. (“Veolia”) to operate and maintain the City’s water and wastewater systems; and

WHEREAS, the original Operations and Maintenance Agreement, dated August 21, 2009,
provided for an initial term beginning January 1, 2010, and ending December 31, 2013; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement was first extended by written agreement on April 5, 2013, for an
additional four (4) years, and subsequently extended through December 31, 2027, pursuant to
the First Amendment dated December 7, 2017; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement has since been amended three additional times to address various
operational and system needs; and

WHEREAS, a Fifth Amendment is now necessary to improve operational efficiency and ensure
continued reliability of the City’s water and wastewater systems.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a Fifth Amendment to the
Operations and Maintenance Agreement with Veolia Water Contract Operations USA, Inc. in
substantially the same form as the document attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated
herein by reference.

Section 2.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Resolution were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that
all deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions
were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements,
including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______ Yeas; ______ Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

______________________________ ______________________________
Clerk of Council Mayor

______________________________ ______________________________
Date Date



EXHIBIT A

1

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE
AGREEMENT

This Fifth Amendment is made and entered into effective January 1, 2025, by and between:

THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, an Ohio municipal
corporation, whose address is 6131 Taylorsville Road, Huber
Heights, Ohio ("Owner"),

and

VEOLIA WATER CONTRACT OPERATIONS USA, INC.,
a Delaware limited liability company, with an address at 461
From Road, Suite 400 Paramus, NJ 07652 (hereinafter
“Company”; formerly named SUEZ Water Environmental
Services Inc., and United Water Environmental Services Inc.)).

Each referred to herein individually as a (“Party”) and
collectively as the (“Parties”).

WHEREAS, Company and Client are parties to the Agreement, whereby Company
provides operation and maintenance services for the Client's water and wastewater system; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement, dated August 21, 2009 had a four (4) year initial term of
January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2013, and was subsequently extended in writing by the
Parties for an additional four (4) years on April 5, 2013, and was further extended through
December 31, 2027 by the First Amendment to the Agreement, dated December 7, 2017 ("First
Amendment'); and

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a Second Amendment to the Agreement, dated
April 4, 2018 ("Second Amendment') in order to correct the index to be used for escalation of
the non- labor cost component described in Appendix D of the Agreement to the "Consumer
Price Index, Series ID # CUURD200SA" as it was in the Agreement prior to the First
Amendment; and

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a Third Amendment to the Agreement (“Third
Amendment") to further correct the index used for annual cost escalations as described in
Appendix D to the Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a Fourth Amendment to the Agreement (“Fourth



EXHIBIT A

2

Amendment") for additional services; and

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to make further changes to the Agreement to address
changing operational and System requirements;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the
Parties agree as follows:

1. Section 3(b) – Maintenance Cap

Section 3(b), Maintenance Cap is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

The Company shall furnish all materials, supplies, consumables, equipment rental and
subcontracting to accomplish Maintenance up to the Annual Maintenance Cap.  In
connection therewith, the Owner will allow the Company, where appropriate, to make
use of its annual contracts for procuring goods and services necessary to complete the
Maintenance work. Eligible Maintenance related costs for which the Company shall be
entitled to charge against the Annual Maintenance Cap pursuance to this Section shall
include the cost of all materials, supplies, equipment rental and subcontracting costs
without a markup for overhead or profit.  It is understood that the purchase of a Capital
Improvement that is required for purposes of maintenance shall not be charged against
the Annual Maintenance Cap.  In the event a particular maintenance item or event
exceeds $15,000 in any month, Company shall notify Owner of same in writing.

2. Section 4(d) - Third Party Damages.

Section 4(d), Third Party Damages is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

The Company shall not be responsible for damage to Owner, municipal or private
property caused by third parties other than the employees, subcontractors, or agents of the
Company. In the event of property damage caused by third parties, the Owner may request
the Company to repair the damage. The Owner shall reimburse the Company for all costs
associated with such repair activities for damages caused by third parties including fire
hydrants and water meters, other than the employees, subcontractors, or agents of the
Company plus a five percent (5%) administration fee. Documentation of the third party
damage will be provided in the form of identification of the third party or location, cost
breakdown, and photograph if available.



EXHIBIT A

3

3. Section 6(e) – Staff Vacancy Credit

Section 6(e), is hereby added to the Agreement to read as follows:

Company shall at all times provide the level of coverage needed to ensure monitoring of all
routine water and wastewater treatment operations called for in this Agreement. Company
shall staff the FACILITY for the balance of the Agreement term unless otherwise
authorized by Owner and Company by amendment to this Agreement. Full time is defined
as eight (8) hours of work performed daily per individual, five (5) days per week,  excluding
lunch break, holidays, vacation days, and other forms of customary paid leave.

Should a position identified above remain vacant for a cumulative total more than 90
calendar days within any 12-month period, Company and Owner will equally share the cost
savings related to the wages and benefits of open positions beginning on calendar day 91.
Such cost savings shall be calculated using the entry-level salary and benefits for the
particular position that is vacant.

Owner reserves the right to request, on reasonable grounds, the removal of Company staff
assigned to key positions at the FACILITY. Company agrees to provide OWNER the
opportunity to review and approve or disapprove changes of persons in key positions. Key
positions include: Project Manager, Operations Supervisors and Lead Operator at the
treatment plant. Owner shall not unreasonably withhold approval of changes of persons in
key positions.

In the event Company incurs additional expenses to perform or have performed tasks
typically performed by a Company employee in a role that has become vacant and subject
to the provisions of this Section, including but not limited to subcontractor costs, laboratory
costs, temporary or contract labor costs, or overtime costs (together, “Employee Substitute
Costs”), Company shall submit documentation of such Employee Substitute Costs to
Owner. Owner shall evaluate the Employee Substitute Costs in good faith to determine if
the Employee Substitute Costs are costs typically performed by a Company employee in a
role that has become vacant. If Owner approves the Employee Substitute Costs, such
approval not to be unreasonably withheld, the cost sharing provisions of this Section shall
not apply.

4. Section 9(g) - Liability.

Section 9(g), is hereby added to the Agreement to read as follows:

To the extent permitted by State law and notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, Company’s liability for performance or non-performance of any obligation



EXHIBIT A

4

arising under the Agreement (whether arising under breach of contract, tort, strict liability,
or any other theory of law or equity) including, but not limited to its indemnity obligations
specified in Section 9(d) of the Agreement, shall not exceed Ten Million Dollars
($10,000,000) cumulatively for the duration of the Agreement, provided that the foregoing
limitation shall not apply to any losses resulting from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Company or Company’s subcontractors, employees or agents in breach of
Company’s obligations under this Agreement.

5. Section 9.(j) - Hazardous Substances and PFAS.

Section 9.(j), is hereby added to the Agreement to read as follows:

(i)    If and to the extent that Owner participated in the Aqueous Film-Forming Foam
Product Liability Litigation brought against 3M, DuPont, Tyco and any other parties joined
therein in the  District Court for the District of South Carolina, Master Docket No. 2:18-
MN-2873-RMG (the “PFAS Class Actions”) and has or will receive settlement funds,
Owner covenants to segregate the settlement funds and to use such funds solely to install,
operate, and maintain a PFAS treatment system for the Project.

(ii)    Influent, effluent, sludge, residuals, biosolids, and other waste that contain
Hazardous Substances shall remain the sole responsibility of Owner, and Company shall
not be, or be deemed to be, an owner, generator, co-generator, provider, manufacturer,
vendor, arranger, or transporter (“arranger”) of any Hazardous Substances.  If and to the
extent, a Company employee signs a waste manifest or other documentation relating to the
presence of Hazardous Substances on or for the Project, such act will be deemed solely for
the benefit and convenience of Owner, such employee will be deemed an agent of Owner,
and such signature shall not subject Company to liability as an arranger or otherwise.

(iii)    Changes in law, standard industry practices relating to any Hazardous Substances,
or the levels of Hazardous Substances on, at, under, or affecting the Project shall warrant
and require Owner to: (i) grant an equitable adjustment to the Annual Fee and Company’s
time for performance for increases in performance times, resource requirements, financial
requirements, costs, or other increases, and (ii) make capital expenditures and increase
operating expenses as such changes require.

(iv) Owner’s failure with respect to the provisions in this Section 9(i) and 9(vi) (Hazardous
Substances) shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement on Owner’s part and give
rise to the right to terminate this Agreement by Company on 3 months’ written notice to
Owner. Prior to termination of this Agreement, Company shall provide Owner with a 6-
month cure period after written notice is received.  Termination of this Agreement by the
Company shall only apply to material, uncured breaches.



EXHIBIT A

5

(v) To Owner’s knowledge, there are no actual or suspected past or present Hazardous
Substances, or Releases of Hazardous Substances on, at, or otherwise affecting the Project,
the operation of the Project, any facilities associated with the Project, or those persons who
operate or otherwise are expected to have access to the Project. “Release” means any
spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping,
leaching, dumping, or disposing into the environment.

(vi) “Hazardous  Substance” means any waste, substance, object, or material deemed
hazardous under applicable law, including (a) “hazardous substances” as defined in the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended; (b) “hazardous waste” as defined in the “hazardous waste” under the Resource,
Conservation and Recovery Act; and (c) “emerging contaminants” as identified by the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency or other governmental authorities due to their potential
for adverse impacts to human health or the environment, specifically including, without
limitation, perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (“PFAS”) such as
perfluorooctanoic acid (“PFOA”) and perfluoro octane sulfonate (“PFOS”).   As used
herein, “Hazardous Substances” also means materials, equipment, physical property, soil,
groundwater or stormwater that are contaminated with Hazardous Substances. “Release”
means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting,
escaping, leaching, dumping, or disposing into the environment.

6. Appendix D - Annual Fee Increase; Chemical Costs Increases and Decreases;
MCAP Increase; Market Wage Adjustment; Additional Employees

Appendix D, Compensation is hereby deleted and replaced with the revised Appendix D
attached hereto.

7. This Fifth Amendment shall be governed by the laws of the State of Ohio.

8. Each Party represents that it has full power and authority to perform and observe its
respective covenants contained in this Fifth Amendment and it has taken all action
necessary for the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and to carry out
and consummate all transactions contemplated hereby, and this Agreement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation
of each Party respectively, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

9. Except as specifically amended herein, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect
in accordance with its terms.



EXHIBIT A

6

10. All references to SUEZ in the Agreement are now herein modified to refer to Company.

11. This Fifth Amendment may be signed in any number of counterparts with the same
effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

Both Parties indicate their approval of this Agreement by their signatures below, and each Party
warrants that all corporate or governmental action necessary to bind the parties to the terms of
this Agreement has been and will be taken.

The City of Huber Heights, Ohio Veolia Water Contract Operations USA, Inc.

By: ________________________________ By: _____________________________

Name: John W. Russell, III Name:

Title: City Manager Title:



EXHIBIT A

7

APPENDIX D
Compensation

(AS AMENDED 1/1/2025)
The Annual Fee, adjusted for CPI and ECI per Amendment 4 (which includes the Maintenance
Cap and one time adjustment (Table D-4)), Electric and Chemical shared costs/ savings, a one
time adjustment for a labor market adjustment (see Exhibit A) and additional employees (see
Exhibit B) for the year 2025 is $4,978,961.25

Once ECI Index and CPI Index information is available for 2026 (estimated to be in February
2026), the Annual Fee for 2026 shall be calculated by following the procedure described below.
Table D-1 illustrates the methodology to be used when performing the recalculation and
illustrates the 2025 Annual Fee.

Beginning in 2026 and in each subsequent year, the Annual Fee shall be calculated in accordance
with the formula described herein. The Annual Fee shall be calculated through the application of
readily available, national cost indices provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics as follows:

a) Labor Cost Component, representing Forty Four Percent (44%) of the Annual Fee shall be
escalated each year based upon the "ECI Index" for price-level changes. The ECI is the current
Employment Cost Index, (CIU 1O1OOOOOOOOOOA (B,C)) not seasonally adjusted, total
compensation, all civilian, 12-month percent change, all workers, as published by the U.S.
Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. The adjustment shall be made using the 12-
month percentage change, (December to December).

b) Non-Labor Cost Component, representing Fifty Six Percent (56%) of the Annual Service Fee
shall be escalated each year based upon the "CPI Index for All items in Midwest - Size Class
B/C" ("CPI Index") for price-level changes. The CPI Index is the Consumer Price Index Series
ID # CUURN200SA0,CUUSN200SA0, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau
of Labor Statistics. The average CPI Index for the year prior to the Effective Date shall be used
as the base index and the adjustments shall use the average CPI Index for the year before the
anniversary of the Effective Date. In addition to the calculation described above, the Annual Fee
shall be adjusted annually as required to account for changes in energy and chemical costs as
follows:

Any energy costs increases or decreases in excess of Five Percent (5%) in any Agreement year
when compared to the previous Agreement year will result in a negotiated associated increase or
decrease of the Utilities Costs, which is defined as the total costs for power and natural gas used
in operation of the facilities as reported on the year end annual financial statement. Any savings
stemming from a decrease in energy costs in excess of Five Percent (5%) for any Agreement
year shall be equally shared and divided between the Parties. Any expenditures stemming from



EXHIBIT A

8

an increase in energy costs in excess of Five Percent (5%) for any Agreement year shall be borne
equally by the Parties.

Any chemical cost increases or decreases in excess of Five Percent (5%) in any Agreement year
when compared to the previous Agreement year will result in a negotiated associated increase or
decrease of the Chemical Costs, which is defined as the total costs for all chemicals used in
operation of the facilities as reported on the year end annual financial statement. Any savings
stemming from a decrease in Chemical Costs in excess of Five Percent (5%) for any Agreement
year shall be equally shared and divided between the Parties. Any expenditures stemming from
an increase in Chemical Costs in excess of Five Percent (5%) for any Agreement year shall also
be borne equally by the Parties.

Energy and Chemical cost increases or decreases shall be trued up annually above or below the
5% variance allowance, borne equally and paid to the respective party. Table D-2 illustrates the
methodology to be used when performing the recalculation and illustrates the 2025 Chemical and
Energy True up.

As per Amendment 4, a one time true-up of years 2021-2024 will be paid to Company for carry
over costs of Energy in the amount of $134,723.18 and Chemicals in the amount of $269,569.57,
detailed in Table D-3. Contract year 2025 and subsequent years will be trued up annually.



EXHIBIT A

9

Table D-1



EXHIBIT A

10

Table D-2

Table D-3



EXHIBIT A

11

Energy



EXHIBIT A

12

Chemicals



EXHIBIT A

13



EXHIBIT A

14



EXHIBIT A

15

Table D-4
MCAP



EXHIBIT A

16

Exhibit A
Wage Reimbursement Fee Adjustment

Veolia is committed to remaining the number one contract operations company in the United
States. Recruiting and retaining top talent to ensure a safe, reliable and compliant system is our
priority. As of 2024, all new offer letters have mandatory requirements for licenses and continued
milestones to ensure staff are striving to achieve Ohio Classes of Water, Wastewater and
Collection and Distribution Operator licenses; building bench strength at the Huber Heights
project. Veolia employees will also be required to reach certain knowledge, skills and abilities per
job description promoting a continued growth and development mindset.

Veolia has increased wages annually, two times in 2024 and implemented a strategic, best in class,
market wage adjustment in 2025 to remain competitive in the greater Huber Heights area. Veolia
is requesting an increase of $229,818 to our Annual Fee which will be directly used for wages and
benefits of Veolia employees working at the Huber Heights project.

Exhibit B
Additional Staff for Increased Capacity

Veolia is committed to providing the City of Huber Heights with the highest level of
professionalism and sense of urgency; ensuring tasks, projects, (standard and CapEx) and
emergencies are completed in a timely manner. As the City of Huber Heights has grown so has the
need for additional employees to ensure safety, compliance, and world class operations across our
scope of work. To meet these goals, Veolia will add two employees to its operations, one O&M
Technician at the Water Treatment Plant and one Customer Service Rep at the Billing office with
an increase to the Annual Fee of $233,166.14.

.
020251\00115\4933-8295-4574.3



   
AI-11000     New Business      F.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
City Code Amendments - Chapter 924 - Industrial Pretreatment Program
Submitted By: Stephanie Wunderlich
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work Session Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025

Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
An Ordinance To Amend All Of Part Nine, Title Three, Chapter 924 Of The Codified Ordinances Of Huber Heights, Regarding The City’s
Industrial Pretreatment Program For The Sanitary Sewer System.
(first reading)

Purpose and Background
Due to new changes in State and Federal laws, the codified ordinances of the City of Huber Heights pertaining to Chapter 924 of the City's
Industrial Pretreatment Program for the sanitary sewer system needs to be amended.  This needs to be done in conjunction with an EPA
mandate to Tri-Cities Authority.  The other two cities (Vandalia and Tipp City) in the Tri-Cities system are also adopting this legislation at this
time. 

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Ordinance 
Attachment A 



1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-O-

TO AMEND ALL OF PART NINE, TITLE THREE, CHAPTER 924 OF THE CODIFIED
ORDINANCES OF HUBER HEIGHTS, REGARDING THE CITY’S INDUSTRIAL
PRETREATMENT PROGRAM FOR THE SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM.

WHEREAS, the City of Huber Heights has adopted rules and regulations for the operation and
maintenance of the City’s Sanitary Sewer and Water Systems which are codified in Chapter 924; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that reorganization and revision of these various
regulations is necessary to improve the thoroughness and organization of regulations; and

WHEREAS, changes in State and Federal laws, also make it necessary for the City to reorganize and
revise the various regulations dealing with industrial pretreatment programs for the sanitary sewer
systems to be owned and/or operated by the City.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1.  The Industrial Pretreatment Program attached hereto as Attachment A is hereby
adopted as the amended Chapter 924 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Huber Heights and
Part Nine, Title Three, Chapter 924 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Huber Heights shall be
replaced in its entirety with the provisions in Attachment A.

Section 2.  It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and relating
to the passage of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that all
deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions were
conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements, including
Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the Charter
of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ______ day of _____________ , 2025;
______  Yeas; ______  Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date

















































   
AI-10999     New Business      G.        
City Council Meeting City Manager             
Meeting Date: 07/14/2025  
Water Main Construction - Walmac Street/Betal Court - Solicit Bids
Submitted By: Hanane Eisentraut
Department: Assistant City Manager - Public Services Division: Engineering
Council Committee Review?: Council Work Session Date(s) of Committee Review: 07/08/2025

Audio-Visual Needs: None Legal Review: Not Needed

Emergency Legislation?: No Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Solicit, Advertise, And Receive Bids From Qualified Firms For The Walmac Street/Betal Court
Water Main Improvements Project.
(first reading)

Purpose and Background
This legislation will allow the City Manager to solicit bids for the Walmac Street/Betal Court Water Main Improvements Project.  The design of
this project has been completed by Reinke Group.  Constructing this project is necessary to improve the domestic and fire flow in the City's
water system.  The Water Fund will be utilized to construct this project.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A
Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Map 
Resolution 





1

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-R-

AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SOLICIT, ADVERTISE, AND RECEIVE BIDS
FROM QUALIFIED FIRMS FOR THE WALMAC STREET/BETAL COURT WATER MAIN
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT.

WHEREAS, City Staff has determined that there is a need to improve the domestic and fire flow
on Walmac Street and Betal Court; and

WHEREAS, it was necessary to obtain outside engineering services to design the Walmac
Street/Betal Court Water Main Improvements Project; and

WHEREAS, engineering plans, specifications and cost estimates have been completed by the
Reinke Group; and

WHEREAS, there are adequate funds available to cover the cost of this work.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to solicit, advertise, and receive responses
from qualified firms for the construction of the Walmac Street/Betal Court Water Main
Improvements Project at a cost not to exceed $450,000.00.

Section 2. It is hereby determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Resolution were taken in an open meeting of this Council and that
all deliberations of this Council and any of its Committees that resulted in such formal actions
were conducted in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements,
including Section 121.22 of Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the ____________day of _________, 2025;
           Yeas;            Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

________________________________ ______________________________
Clerk of Council Mayor

________________________________ ______________________________
Date  Date


	Agenda
	AI_10970_Approval Of Minutes - 06/23/2025
	       ATT_Minutes
	AI_10992_2024 Community Survey Results Presentation
	       ATT_Presentation
	AI_10977_City Manager Report
	AI_10971_Creekside Townhomes - Economic Development Plan
	       ATT_City Engineer's Certification
	       ATT_Ordinance
	       ATT_Exhibit A_Exhibit B
	AI_10972_Tri-Cities Sewer Tap Fees
	       ATT_Ordinance
	       ATT_Attachment A
	CHAPTER 934 RATES AND FEES FOR WATER DISTRIBUTION AND SANITARYSEWER SERVICES1
	934.01 Definitions.
	934.02 Water distribution rates.
	934.03 Sanitary sewer rates.
	934.04 Sewer service charges annual audit.
	934.05 Sewer service charge notification.
	934.06 Sewage or industrial waste surcharges.
	934.07 Fees generally.
	934.08 Fees applicable to water and sewer accounts.
	934.09 Fees for facilities.
	934.09 Fees for facilities.
	934.10 Reserved.
	934.11 Miscellaneous fees.
	934.12 Protection from bearing entire construction cost.


	AI_10995_2026 Tax Budget - Public Hearing
	AI_10998_2026 Tax Budget
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	AI_11004_Supplemental Appropriations
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI_11002_Petition - New Community Authority (NCA)
	       ATT_Petition
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_11001_Veolia Water Contract - Fifth Amendment
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	AI_11000_City Code Amendments - Chapter 924 - Industrial Pretreatment Program
	       ATT_Ordinance
	       ATT_Attachment A
	AI_10999_Water Main Construction - Walmac Street/Betal Court - Solicit Bids
	       ATT_Map
	       ATT_Resolution

